The Parliament of the Commonwealth of Australia
Inquiry into the Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research Annual Report 2011-12
House of Representatives Standing Committee on Agriculture, Resources, Fisheries and Forestry
June 2013 Canberra

© Commonwealth of Australia 2013

ISBN 978-1-74366-032-4 (Printed version)

ISBN 978-1-74366-033 (HTML version)

This work is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs 3.0 Australia License.



The details of this licence are available on the Creative Commons website: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/au/.

Contents

For	eword	۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰ ۱
Mei	mbership of the Committee	ix
Ter	ms of reference	X
List	t of abbreviations	xi
List	of recommendations	xii
4	A de alla a official la	4
1	Adoption of inquiry	
	The Committee's inquiry	1
2	Background	3
	Research programs	
	Aid Program Initiatives	
	Impact Assessment Program	
	Food Security	6
3	Issues and analysis	9
	Independent review into ACIAR	9
	Committee comment	13
	ACIARs role in policy development	14
	Committee comment	15
	ACIARs collaborative work	15
	Committee comment	17
	Food Security	18
	Australian International Food Security Centre (AIFSC)	18

Α	Appendix A – Public Hearing	23	
	Committee comment	21	
	Domestic benefits from ACIAR research	20	
	Committee comment		

Foreword

In November 2012, the House of Representatives Standing Committee on Agriculture, Resources, Fisheries and Forestry resolved to inquire into the Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research (ACIAR) Annual Report 2011-12.

The ACIAR works within Australia's international aid framework to encourage Australian agricultural scientists to use their skills for the benefit of developing countries and Australia.

ACIARs key functions include:

- commissioning research into improving sustainable agricultural production in developing countries;
- funding project related training;
- communicating the results of funded research;
- conducting and funding development activities related to research programs, and
- administering the Australian Government's contribution to the International Agricultural Research Centres

The ACIAR conducts a broad program of activities including collaborative research programs, international aid assistance, and contributing to food security initiatives.

The Committee's inquiry canvassed a range of issues relating to ACIAR's operations. In particular, the Committee considered a recently released independent review into ACIAR; the newly established Australian International Food Security Centre; and the domestic benefits arising from ACIAR's work.

In May 2013, the Minister for Foreign Affairs and Trade released the report of an independent panel established in 2012 to assess ACIAR's work. The panel examined ACIARs work in the context of:

 its appropriateness in achieving the goals of Australia's aid program, largely reducing poverty;

- its effectiveness in improving livelihoods through productive and sustainable agriculture; and
- its operations and arrangements for managing research programs and building its own capacity.

The panel, accounting for recent changes to Australia's international aid program, raised a number of questions about ACIAR's model, management approaches, stakeholder engagement and other issues, including the operation of whole-of-government aid arrangements.

The Committee found that overall the independent review was positive about ACIARs work, despite making 27 recommendations covering those questions raised. The Committee noted however that it is currently unclear whether the Australian Government intends to act upon all of the panel's recommendations, beyond simply updating ACIAR's own strategic plan. The Committee has therefore recommended that the Government responds publicly to the review. In responding, the Government should prioritise a number of areas highlighted in the review – mechanisms to develop whole-of-government responses to overseas development assistance and the ongoing evaluation of ACIAR's activities.

One of ACIARs core initiatives is the Australian International Food Security Centre (AIFSC). The AIFSC aims to strengthen the Australian Government's commitment to global food security through technological innovations in agriculture. It currently runs a range of programs in the Asia Pacific and Africa to assist communities in maximising crop yields, details of which can be found on their website www.aciar.gov.au. The Committee believes that the AIFSC will allow Australia to take a leading international role towards improving global food security. The Committee supports recommendations made in the independent review of ACIAR for the AIFSC to include food security research in its mandate.

While its benefit to communities in developing countries is clear, the Committee was also interested in the domestic benefits stemming from ACIARs research. The Committee heard that some ten per cent of the benefits accruing from ACIAR research were applied domestically in Australia, particularly in relation to biosecurity including rabies, foot and mouth disease and other exotic diseases. The Committee considered that the Australian Government should continually evaluate ACIAR research and apply any relevant results or lessons learnt domestically. Finally, the Committee also noted that better communication and promotion of ACIARs work and research to Australia's general public, scientific and research communities would help to raise further awareness of the agency's important work and would also assist to further domestic and international collaborative opportunities. We need to do more to telegraph our expertise and findings to the world.

I would like to thank staff of the ACIAR for their assistance during the Committee's inquiry. Their ongoing work through Australia's overseas development program is providing significant benefit to the livelihoods of agricultural communities in the developing world and also important benefits to Australia as well.

Hon Dick Adams MP Chair

Membership of the Committee

Chair Hon Dick Adams MP

Deputy Chair Mr Alby Schultz MP

Members Mr Darren Cheeseman MP Mr Rob Mitchell MP

Mr George Christensen MP Mr Dan Tehan MP

Mr Geoff Lyons MP

Committee Secretariat

Secretary Mr David Brunoro

Inquiry Secretary Mr Muzammil Ali

Administrative Officers Ms Jazmine Rakic

Ms Karen Underwood

Terms of reference

On *Thursday, 29 November 2012*, the Standing Committee on Agriculture, Resources, Fisheries and Forestry resolved to inquire into the 2011-12 Annual Report of the Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research.

List of abbreviations

ACIAR Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research

AIDSC Australian International Food Security Centre

IARCs International Agricultural Research Centres

IFAD International Fund for Agricultural Development

CGIAR Consultative Group on International Agricultural Research

AIFSC Australian International Food Security Centre

CAPF Comprehensive Aid Policy Framework

ODA Official Development Assistance

SIMLESA Sustainable Intensification of Maize-Legume cropping systems

for food in Eastern and Southern Africa

List of recommendations

3 Issues and analysis

Recommendation 1

The Committee recommends that the Australian Government publicly respond to the Independent Review of the Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research.

1

Adoption of inquiry

- 1.1 On 28 November 2012, the House of Representatives Standing Committee on Agriculture, Resources, Fisheries and Forestry resolved to inquire into the 2011-12 Annual Report of the Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research (ACIAR).
- 1.2 Standing Order 215(c) of the House of Representatives allows a standing committee appointed by the House to:

... make any inquiry it wishes to make into annual reports of government departments and authorities and reports of the Auditor-General presented to the House.¹

The Committee's inquiry

- 1.3 Following the adoption of the Committee's inquiry, the Committee wrote to inform the Minister for Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry that the inquiry would be conducted and that Council representatives would be called to give evidence.
- 1.4 The Committee held a public hearing for the inquiry on 29 May 2013 in Canberra at which representatives of ACIAR appeared. Details of witnesses who appeared before the Committee are in Appendix A.

¹ House of Representatives Standing Order 215(c).

2

Background

- 2.1 The Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research (ACIAR) is a statutory authority that operates as part of the Australian Government's development cooperation programs. The Centre encourages Australia's agricultural scientists to use their skills for the benefit of developing countries and Australia. ACIAR operates in five international regions: Papua New Guinea and the Pacific Islands; Indonesia, East Timor and the Philippines; Mekong countries and China; South and West Asia; and Africa.
- 2.2 ACIAR forms part of Australia's international aid program, which is managed primarily by AusAID. In 2011, the Australian Government commissioned an independent review of Australia's aid policy, responding through the statement *An Effective Aid Program for Australia Making a real difference Delivering Real Results.*¹ This refocused Australia's aid program by prescribing five strategic goals that are consistent with the aims of the United Nations Millennium Development Goals:
 - saving lives,
 - promoting opportunities for all,
 - sustainable economic development,
 - effective governance, and

AusAID, An Effective Aid Program for Australia – Making a real difference – Delivering real results (7 June 2013) < http://www.ausaid.gov.au/publications/Pages/5621_9774_1073_3040_2380.aspx>

- humanitarian and disaster response.²
- 2.3 The review also resulted in a range of changes to how Australia's international aid program is implemented. The primary impact on ACIAR was a change in its governance structure through amending its enabling legislation, the *Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research Act* 1982 (the ACIAR Act). The change in governance resulted in the establishment of the Commission for International Agricultural Research to oversee ACIAR and to provide advice to the Minister on relevant ACIAR activities.³
- 2.4 ACIARs key functions include:
 - commissioning research into improving sustainable agricultural production in developing countries;
 - funding project related training;
 - communicating the results of funded research;
 - conducting and funding development activities related to research programs;
 - administering the Australian Government's contribution to the International Agricultural Research Centres.⁴
- 2.5 It is important to note that the ACIAR Act does not authorise the ACIAR to conduct research on behalf of the Commonwealth. As a result, its work is conducted through collaborative research.
- 2.6 The ACIARs current work program is broad and varied. Its work falls into the following categories:
 - Research programs,
 - Aid Program Initiatives,
 - Impact Assessment, and
 - Food security.
- 2.7 Each of these categories is briefly expanded upon below.
- 2 AusAID, An Effective Aid Program for Australia (7 June 2013) http://www.ausaid.gov.au/makediff/pages/aid-policy.aspx
- 3 Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research, Corporate Governance (4 June 2013) < http://aciar.gov.au/corporate_governance>
- 4 Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research, *About Us* (4 June 2013) http://aciar.gov.au/aboutus>

BACKGROUND 5

Research programs

2.8 Research and development programs conducted by ACIAR develop, monitor and evaluate a range of projects in the areas of:

- Livestock and fisheries
- Crops
- Natural resource management
- Economic and social sciences
- 2.9 Multilateral research and development stems from ACIAR's core funding to International Agricultural Research Centres (IARCs) and also from funding individual projects.⁵

Aid Program Initiatives

- 2.10 ACIAR works in partnership with other countries to deliver its contribution to Australia's aid program. Some strategic partnerships are funded via the *Overseas Development Assistance Food Security through Rural Development* initiative, while others may be delivered in partnership with AusAID. Currently, there are a number of initiatives being undertaken:
 - Australia Pakistan Agriculture Sector Linkages Program Phase 2, 2010-2015: collaboration between Australia and Pakistan to improve livelihood systems for the rural poor with a focus on the mango, citrus and dairy sectors. ⁶
 - Rice-based Systems Research Program: concentrates on rice-based food security in Lao PDR, Cambodia and Bangladesh through boosting rice yields, improving livestock production and the increasing the capacity of individuals and institutions.⁷
 - Sustainable Intensification of Maize-Legume cropping systems for food security in Eastern and Southern Africa (SIMLESA) Program: addresses the

⁵ Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research, *Research Programs* (4 June 2013), http://aciar.gov.au/ResearchPrograms>

⁶ Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research, *Australia Pakistan Agriculture Sector Linkages Program Phase* 2, 2010 – 2015 (4 June 2013) http://aciar.gov.au/aslp>

Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research, *Rice-based Systems Research Program* (12 June 2013) http://aciar.gov.au/RSR>

improvement of yields of maize and legumes in Ethiopia, Kenya, Malawi, Mozambique and Tanzania through international collaboration with the International Maize and Wheat Improvement Center (CIMMYT).⁸

Impact Assessment Program

- 2.11 ACIAR conducts assessments of the impact of the research that it funds, in particular, it works to quantify its return on investment. These assessments are used to provide accountability to stakeholders along with improved decision making capability for future investment and to provide research training. ⁹ Currently three forms of assessment are used:
 - Economic assessments: published in the ACIARs Impact Assessment Series. These assessments, undertaken by independent economists include analysis of project adoption and project outputs, impact assessments and qualitative assessment of the social and environmental impact of projects.¹⁰
 - Adoption studies: conducted 3 4 years after a project has been completed measure how a project has made a difference at the scientific and community levels. If no discernible differences are identified, the reasons for this are sought.¹¹
 - *Impact pathway analysis*: traces the pathway to change 'from research outputs (the deliverables), to outcomes (use of the deliverables by the next and final users), to impact (the ultimate change in social, economic and/or environmental conditions that occurs with widespread adoption)'. ¹²

⁸ Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research, SIMLESA Program (4 June 2013) http://aciar.gov.au/simlesa>

⁹ Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research, Measuring impact (4 June 2013) http://aciar.gov.au/measuring_impact>

¹⁰ Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research, Measuring impact (4 June 2013) http://aciar.gov.au/measuring_impact>

¹¹ Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research, Measuring impact (4 June 2013) http://aciar.gov.au/measuring_impact>

¹² Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research, Measuring impact (4 June 2013) http://aciar.gov.au/measuring_impact>

BACKGROUND 7

Food Security

2.12 ACIAR's work has a significant emphasis on food security, particularly in the area of improving food security for countries under its mandate through international partnerships. This work is undertaken through a range of dedicated centres and international collaborations, as detailed below.

Consultative Group on International Agricultural Research (CGIAR) and International Agricultural Research Centres (IARCs)

- 2.13 ACIAR works through CGIAR, a global partnership 'dedicated to reducing rural poverty, increasing food security, improving human health and nutrition, and ensuring more sustainable management of natural resources'. 13 CGIAR has a range of research programs that are carried out by a global network of 15 IARCs. CGIAR's research programs include:
 - dryland cereals;
 - grain legumes;
 - livestock and fish;
 - maize;
 - rice;
 - roots, tubers and bananas;
 - wheat;
 - climate change, agriculture and food security;
 - forests, trees and agroforestry;
 - water, land and ecosystems;
 - integrated systems for the humid tropics;
 - aquatic agricultural systems;
 - dryland systems;
 - policies, institutions and markets;
 - agriculture for nutrition and health; and

¹³ Consultative Group on International Agricultural Research (CGIAR) and International Agricultural Research Centres (IARCs), Who we are (4 June 2013) http://www.cgiar.org/who-we-are/

managing and sustaining crop collections.¹⁴

Australian International Food Security Centre (AIFSC)

- 2.14 The AIFSC sits within ACIAR. With offices in Canberra and Nairobi, its goal is to help smallholder farmers and other poor households access sufficient, accessible and nutritious food by providing linkages to agricultural innovation. AIFSC also aims to facilitate market access through the reduction of economic and policy barriers.¹⁵
- 2.15 The AIFSC has a ten year strategy which identifies priority areas of focus. These key areas are:
 - sustainable and productive farming systems;
 - food markets, value chains and social systems;
 - food nutrition and safety;
 - communications and knowledge management; and
 - education, training and capacity building.¹⁶
- 2.16 The AIFSC currently conducts a range of projects associated with its operations:
 - Identifying socioeconomic constraints to and incentives for faster technology adoption: Pathways to sustainable intensification in eastern and southern Africa.
 - 'Trees for Food Security' Improving sustainable productivity in farming systems and evergreen agriculture in eastern Africa.
 - Farm power and conservation agriculture for sustainable intensification.
 - A traffic light soil water sensor for resource poor farmers.¹⁷

¹⁴ Consultative Group on International Agricultural Research (CGIAR) and International Agricultural Research Centres (IARCs), Who we are (4 June 2013) http://www.cgiar.org/who-we-are/>

¹⁵ Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research, *Australian International Food Security Centre* (4 June 2013) http://aciar.gov.au/aifsc/

¹⁶ Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research, *Australian International Food Security Centre* (4 June 2013) http://aciar.gov.au/aifsc/

¹⁷ Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research, *Australian International Food Security Centre* (4 June 2013) http://aciar.gov.au/aifsc/



Issues and analysis

- 3.1 This Chapter considers the key issues that were raised during the Committee's inquiry into the Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research (ACIAR) Annual Report 2011-12. The key points considered are as follows:
 - the independent review into ACIAR;
 - ACIARs role in policy development;
 - ACIAR's collaborative work;
 - food security;
 - ⇒ Australian International Food Security Centre; and
 - domestic benefits from ACIAR research.

Independent review into ACIAR

- 3.2 In 2012, the Minister for Foreign Affairs and Trade commissioned an independent panel to conduct a review into ACIAR. The Panel consisted of persons with significant experience in 'the international environment, development economics, business and evaluation'.¹
- 3.3 The Panel was asked to assess a number of issues related to ACIARs work:
 - The appropriateness of ACIAR's goals and strategies in supporting the fundamental purpose of Australian aid, namely, helping people overcome poverty;

¹ Independent Review of the Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research (2013) *Report*, p. 2.

- ACIAR's effectiveness in improving livelihoods through more productive and sustainable agriculture, and in achieving intermediate knowledge generation and capacity building outcomes; and
- The efficiency of ACIAR's operations and arrangements for managing research programs and building capacity, including internal capability and systems, risk management, performance oversight, and transparency.²
- 3.4 In conducting its review, the Panel was to have regard to Australia's approach to aid policy stemming from the Governments response to the 2011 report, *Independent Review of Aid Effectiveness*.³ This response has been encapsulated in the Comprehensive Aid Policy Framework (CAPF) that reflects changes in Official Development Assistance (ODA) and AusAID's operating structure.⁴ In examining ACIARs role within this context, its Annual Report 2011-12 states that:

The CAPF confirms ACIAR's role in improving food security, supporting the strategic goal of Sustainable Economic Development. ACIAR's research develops and disseminates new agricultural technologies. Through this research crop productivity gains are made, resulting in increased crop value and reduction in poverty.⁵

- 3.5 In May 2013, the Minister released the findings of the Panel's independent review based on Australian and overseas consultations. The Panel's consultations highlighted a number of questions about 'ACIAR's model, management approaches, stakeholder engagement and other issues, including the way in which the new whole-of-government aid arrangements are working in practice'.⁶
- 3.6 The Panel's 27 recommendations were structured around a number of key themes:
 - whole-of-government issues,
 - governance issues,
- 2 Independent Review of the Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research (2013) *Report*, p. 2.
- 3 Australian Government (2012) An Effective Aid Program for Australia: Making a real difference Delivering real results.
- Independent Review of the Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research (2013) *Report*, p. 2.
- 5 Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research, Annual Report 2011-12, p. 53.
- 6 Independent Review of the Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research (2013) *Report*, p. 2.

- ACIAR strategies and approaches,
- ACIAR management and resources,
- ACIAR effectiveness, and
- communication and stakeholder engagement.⁷
- 3.7 At the Committee's public hearing, ACIAR quoted from the independent review, highlighting the Panel's overall view that:

ACIAR is an integral part of Australia's development assistance program and a part of Australia's agricultural innovation system. ACIAR accordingly delivers aid benefits that accrue through a number of pathways. The most obvious is through direct productivity improvements from new production technologies or through new breeds and varieties. ACIAR-funded research has also led to benefits from management of pests and diseases, improved food safety, quarantine and quality enhancement, together with environmental, biodiversity and sustainability improvements. Independent assessments have shown strong returns from ACIAR projects, with a conservative estimate showing a benefit: cost ratio of 6:1 from total ACIAR expenditure since its inception.⁸

- 3.8 The Committee was interested in the effectiveness of ACIARs work overseas including how its research is assessed and how lessons learnt from its research are incorporated into ACIARs future work program. ACIAR noted that the issue of monitoring, evaluation and impact assessment process was a significant aspect of the independent review.⁹
- 3.9 In highlighting the impact assessment program that ACIAR undertakes with the assistance of well-credentialed independent assessors, ACIAR stated that the program:
 - ... has not only demonstrated very high rates of return—and agricultural research is often characterised by high rates of return—but it also has had an influence on the way programs and projects are designed in ACIAR. We have a strong ethos of lessons learned which has been informed by the impact assessments of the

⁷ Independent Review of the Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research (2013) *Report*, pp. 2 - 7.

⁸ Dr Nick Austin, Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research, *Transcript of Evidence*, Canberra, p. 1.

⁹ Dr Nick Austin, Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research, *Transcript of Evidence*, Canberra, p. 6.

projects. We undertake impact assessments at the conclusion of projects \dots 10

3.10 ACIAR told the Committee that it uses the results of impact assessment studies to evaluate its overall performance, stating that:

The value I think is that because we now have many years of assessments we can start doing meta-analyses to look across impact assessments by geography or by theme and ask, are we getting better or worse? What are the characteristics? We do not produce a lot of print copies of those but we know that the electronic copies are accessed regularly. But it is the meta-analyses that are proving particularly valuable. We have got one in progress at the moment which will be released soon.¹¹

3.11 In addition to impact assessment studies, ACIAR also conducts adoption studies. 12 These, as highlighted in Chapter 2, examine whether projects have made a difference at local scientific and community levels. 13 ACIAR advised the Committee of how adoption studies measure uptake of agricultural practices developed via ACIAR research:

... you have early uptakers who adopt and then you get a time lag over which other people may adopt. In between that time lag, which can be 20 years, you get incremental improvements in productivity occurring. ... What they do is they take a base adoption rate. Then they look at what is the projected adoption rate going out for, say, 20 years, and what is the productivity enhancement that will be attached to that adoption. That is based on sample work they have got of what has actually happened already and projecting outwards. Then ... they look what economic surpluses have been developed. From that they can then look at the original investment, from ACIAR ¹⁴

_

¹⁰ Dr Nick Austin, Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research, *Transcript of Evidence*, Canberra, p. 1.

¹¹ Dr Nick Austin, Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research, *Transcript of Evidence*, Canberra, p. 1.

¹² Dr Nick Austin, Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research, *Transcript of Evidence*, Canberra, p. 1.

¹³ Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research, Measuring impact (4 June 2013) http://aciar.gov.au/measuring_impact>

¹⁴ Dr Simon Hearn, Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research, *Transcript of Evidence*, Canberra, p. 6.

Committee comment

3.12 The Committee found that the independent review into ACIAR provided a generally positive endorsement of its work. In the Committee's opinion, the review provided a range of valuable recommendations that, if implemented, would strengthen the operations of ACIAR and also Australia's international aid program more broadly.

- 3.13 However, it is unclear whether the Government accepts and intends to act upon all of the review's recommendations. In releasing the review's findings the Minister for Foreign Affairs noted that ACIAR is developing a new strategic plan, hence alluding that the new plan would reflect the recommendations of the independent review.
- 3.14 The Committee is of the opinion that a more transparent and complete response to the independent review is warranted. The Government should take the time to properly consider and then publicly respond to the reviews findings. This more transparent and complete process is important so the public and scientific community can see whether the Government plans to act on the reviews recommendations, and if so what that that action will entail. Such a response is also important to ensure any whole-of-government changes are properly considered.
- 3.15 The Committee considers that two areas of the reviews recommendations should be given particular priority. The first area relates to whole-of-government coordination; and the second to ensuring ongoing evaluation are conducted.
- 3.16 The Committee considers the recommendation requiring key agencies to develop mechanisms for whole-of-government responses to ODA to be important. This will contribute to a more coordinated aid response with the ability for agencies to pool relevant resources.
- 3.17 Secondly, the Committee believes that the recommendation requiring regular evaluation of ACIAR's activities is vital to ensure that its work continues to be targeted and consistent with the overall ODA framework. 16 The independent review's recommendations specifically relating to the effectiveness of the ACIAR should be considered by the Australian Government in the context of developing a systematic

¹⁵ Independent Review of the Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research (2013) *Report*, p. 3.

¹⁶ Independent Review of the Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research (2013) *Report,* p. 3.

methodology to assess the impact of ACIARs work on poverty, in line with the principles of CAPF.

Recommendation 1

The Committee recommends that the Australian Government publicly respond to the Independent Review of the Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research.

ACIARs role in policy development

- 3.18 ACIARs primary role is commissioning research leading to more productive and sustainable agricultural practices consistent with the principles of the ODA program. ACIARs research informs the policy development initiatives of AusAID, the key managing authority of Australia's overseas aid program.
- 3.19 ACIAR, noting that its own mandate revolves around research, stated to the Committee that it works:
 - ...seamlessly with AusAID to ensure that the results of our research are used to inform the development activities and that the development program is able to take the results of the research and scale them out into practice.¹⁷
- 3.20 ACIAR also contributes to whole-of-government initiatives with its Annual Report 2011-12 stating that:

ACIAR's contribution to the whole-of-government approach to aid delivery is also evident in our participation in projects over the past decade—in East Timor, Solomon Islands, Papua New Guinea, the aftermath of the Indian Ocean tsunami, and most recently in Pakistan, Iraq and Afghanistan. ...

In addition to managing its own project portfolio, ACIAR also contributes to whole-of-government aid initiatives, such as the Food Security through Rural Development initiative, with

¹⁷ Dr Nick Austin, Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research, *Transcript of Evidence*, Canberra, p. 1.

programs operating in countries including eastern Africa and the Mekong. ACIAR also manages a selection of AusAID-funded projects, including Seeds of Life in East Timor and the Agriculture Sector Linkages Program in Pakistan. ¹⁸

Committee comment

- 3.21 The Committee understands that ACIAR does not play a formal role in the development of Australian aid policy, but that its extensive research work contributes vital knowledge to inform this process. This role, particularly ACIARs work in whole-of-government engagement, has already been considered in light of the independent review. The Australian Government should ensure that this important function is both maintained and strengthened so that ACIAR can contribute to the longer-term goals of the ODA program.
- 3.22 In terms of Australia's international engagement, the Committee notes the recent passing of the International Fund for Agricultural Development Bill 2012 through the House of Representatives. The intent of the Bill is to allow Australia to re-join International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD) of which it was a founding member since inception in 1977, although this ceased in 2004 as a result of a number of concerns by the then Government.¹⁹
- 3.23 While not undertaking analysis of the Bill (that role already having been undertaken by other committees), the Committee notes that if this Bill is passed into law, it will provide ACIAR and other Australian aid agencies with a further opportunity to engage internationally and again demonstrate Australian expertise in agricultural development issues.

ACIARs collaborative work

- 3.24 ACIARs work is conducted in a collaborative manner with partners both domestically and internationally. As highlighted in Chapter 2, ACIAR is involved in a range of collaborative research, development and aid projects within the Asia-Pacific and Africa.
- 3.25 The Committee was interested in a number of broad issues relating to ACIARs collaborative work, particularly assistance provided to small

¹⁸ Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research, Annual Report 2011-12, p. 53.

¹⁹ International Fund for Agricultural Development Bill 2012.

landholders to develop their businesses in light of rapid development in many countries served by ACIAR. ACIAR advised the Committee that assisting small landholders to access markets for their products poses challenges:

... in the sense that many partner countries are in a stage of urbanisation. Taking Indonesia, one of our neighbours—over 50 per cent of Indonesia is now urban, so there is food access for consumers and there is the opportunity for smallholder farmers to benefit from that market ...²⁰

3.26 Further, ACIAR told the Committee that this rapid urbanisation impacts the way in which small landholders operate their businesses. Some of the factors that must be considered include:

... changing land availability, labour availability and some of the rules and relationships in the way land is tenured and used ... If the tenure is known, there will be a different behaviour from what you get where it is not—shorter term, cash return ...²¹

3.27 ACIAR also suggests that a further complication exists with:

... intergenerational changes with land and subdivision of holdings and the impact that smallholdings have on the potential to increase production and productivity. ²²

- 3.28 Intergenerational changes, ACIAR believes, are also compounded by labour shortages where the more productive portion of available labour are pursuing better opportunities and improved financial rewards in other industries.²³
- 3.29 ACIARs collaborative work also extends to providing local agricultural researchers the opportunity to develop their own skills. This is through strong exchange programs developed by ACIAR, providing both Australian and overseas researchers with significant development opportunities and increasing the benefits to developing nations.²⁴

²⁰ Dr Simon Hearn, Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research, *Transcript of Evidence*, Canberra, pp. 4-5.

²¹ Dr Nick Austin, Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research, *Transcript of Evidence*, Canberra, p. 5.

²² Dr Nick Austin, Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research, *Transcript of Evidence*, Canberra, p. 5.

²³ Dr Nick Austin, Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research, *Transcript of Evidence*, Canberra, p. 5.

²⁴ Dr Nick Austin, Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research, *Transcript of Evidence*, Canberra, p. 4.

3.30 ACIAR highlighted a number of examples of specific collaborative work that it is presently undertaking. In particular, ACIAR highlighted:

- The fisheries program being undertaken in a number of countries works with small landholders to improve aquaculture within the farming system including shrimp and rice farming;²⁵
- water management programs on different scales in India including projects considering water sharing, water quality and energy use;²⁶
- projects working with mango and citrus growers in provincial Pakistan where a feudal landholder system is still in operation meaning that some growers do not own their agricultural land.²⁷

Committee comment

- 3.31 The Committee is pleased to see that the Australian Government, through ACIAR and other agencies, is heavily engaged with small landholders and researchers in a range of developing nations under its mandate. This work demonstrates Australia's strong commitment to ensuring that opportunities to improve the livelihoods for the citizenry of some of our less fortunate neighbours. The Committee notes the Australian Governments' long term commitment to increase its foreign aid expenditure.
- 3.32 One of the features of ACIARs operations that impressed the Committee was the opportunity for Australian agricultural researches and practitioners to apply their skills and knowledge to developing sustainable agricultural practices throughout the Asia Pacific and Africa. That this expertise has improved the lives of so many should be a credit to Australia's agricultural sector and educational institutes.
- 3.33 The Committee noted that ACIARs work also provides developmental opportunities for overseas-based researchers to spend time in Australia increasing their skills. This experience can then be applied to various ACIAR-commissioned projects in their home countries. Importantly, the skills acquired can also be taught to local landholders and agricultural scientists.

²⁵ Dr Nick Austin, Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research, *Transcript of Evidence*, Canberra, p. 2.

²⁶ Dr Nick Austin, Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research, *Transcript of Evidence*, Canberra, p. 5.

²⁷ Dr Nick Austin, Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research, *Transcript of Evidence*, Canberra, p. 5.

3.34 Finally, the Committee is encouraged to see that ACIARs work includes assisting small landholders to develop their agribusinesses in the face of growing urbanisation. The committee urges the Australian Government, through ACIAR, to continue efforts to increase the businesses skills of small landholders to ensure they can navigate local laws and regulations successfully. This will provide increased opportunities to maximise earnings from their agricultural endeavours.

Food Security

- 3.35 As highlighted in Chapter 2, ACIARs work places significant emphasis on food security in its mandated areas within the Asia Pacific and Africa. ACIARs food security endeavours are twofold firstly through global collaborations, the Consultative Group on International Agricultural Research (CGIAR) and International Agricultural Research Centers (IARC) and secondly, through its own Australian International Food Security Centre (AIFSC).
- 3.36 The Committee was interested in the issue of storage of crops once it had been harvested. ACIAR used the example of the SIMLESA Program (as described in Chapter 2) to highlight how ACIAR works to increase food production by small landholders and develop solutions to bring crops to market where storage of crops may be difficult. ACIAR told the Committee that:

That program is completing its first phase and we are negotiating the second phase. Involved in that is on-farm aspects, input supply chains and output supply chains. So the storage aspect is very much around the outputs—how production can be brought to market in sufficient quality, but with approaches that are applicable for the smallholder situation where there is not resources to invest in silos and storage and the like.²⁸

Australian International Food Security Centre (AIFSC)

3.37 In 2011, the Prime Minister established the Australia International Food Security Centre (AIFSC) that sits within ACIAR.²⁹ The AIFSC aims to

²⁸ Dr Nick Austin, Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research, *Transcript of Evidence*, Canberra, p. 2.

²⁹ Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research, *Australian International Food Security Centre: Who we are* (19 June 2013) http://aciar.gov.au/aifsc/who-we-are>

strengthen the Australian Government's commitment to global food security through technological innovations in agriculture. Chapter 2 highlights the ten-year strategy that identifies the primary focus of AIFSC.

3.38 ACIAR provided the Committee with the rationale behind the development of the AIFSC noting:

The food security centre builds on the capacities and networks that ACIAR has established over the last 30 years... it has given us the ability to address food security questions more comprehensively. ... What the food security centre has enabled us to do is focus on the other dimensions ... not just the production of food, but access to that and utilisations.... the availability is around nutritious food quality and has enabled ACIAR to start exploring new partnerships in human health and nutrition where we have not done in the past. ³⁰

3.39 ACIAR also highlighted the AIFSCs focus on Africa:

The long term intent is that it is a more global program, but Africa is the initial priority, for the very good reason that the highest concentration of poverty is in Africa and we share a lot of common challenges in our agricultural production systems. That is where the initial focus of the centre has been.³¹

- 3.40 ACIAR highlighted to the Committee a number of projects that are currently being conducted through the AIFSC:
 - A recently launched partnership with Canada's International Development Research Centre to improve food security in sub-Saharan Africa.³² It is primarily focused on small landholder productivity with respect to underutilised crops.
 - 'Trees for Food Security' project that aims to encourage farmers to grow certain trees on farms that have been shown to increase crop yields. These trees (faidherbia) introduce certain organic material into soil which improve issues associated with nitrogen.³³

³⁰ Dr Nick Austin, Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research, *Transcript of Evidence*, Canberra, p. 2.

³¹ Dr Nick Austin, Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research, *Transcript of Evidence*, Canberra, p. 2.

³² Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research, *News 3 December* 2012 (4 June 2013) http://aciar.gov.au/news/2012-12-03>

³³ Dr Nick Austin, Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research, *Transcript of Evidence*, Canberra, pp. 2 - 3.

Committee comment

- 3.41 The Committee considers that food security is a significant international issue and that the Australian Government, through ACIAR should be commended for their efforts in establishing the AIFSC. The Committee believes that the AIFSC will allow Australia to take a leading role in the global effort towards ensuring food security in Africa. Collaborative efforts, such as the recently announced partnership with Canada's International Development Research Centre will, in the Committee's opinion, strengthen Australia's already significant body of work. The AIFSC will also ensure that Australian investment in the area of food security is well targeted and monitored.
- 3.42 The Committee notes Recommendation 11 of the independent review into the ACIAR which calls for AIFSC to become the Australian International Food Security Research Centre. This, in the eyes of the panel that conducted the independent review, will allow the AIFSC to better understand the adoption process within agriculture and become a global reference point on this issue.

Domestic benefits from ACIAR research

- 3.43 While ACIARs focus is primarily on its international work, it is clear that the results of its projects have domestic for the Australian agricultural sector. ACIAR suggested to the Committee that conservatively, ten per cent of the benefits accruing from ACIAR research actually flow back to Australia. These are primarily through the domestic application of lessons learnt.
- 3.44 ACIAR highlighted to the Committee a number of examples of projects that had found some domestic application:
 - Biosecurity: where ACIAR research has resulted in domestic application in the areas of rabies, foot and mouth disease; exotic diseases and diseases exotic to Australia but endemic in our near neighbours.³⁴ It has also resulted in the identification and management of pests and diseases.

 Canola varietal improvement: collaboratively involving research in Australia, China and India which identified varieties of canola that were better adapted to drought and other challenging conditions.³⁵

3.45 The Committee was also interested in the intellectual property rights that have stemmed from ACIAR research. ACIAR advised the Committee of its long-standing policy in relation to the intellectual property of its work, noting that this:

... must be available to smallholders long term. We have a non-extinguishable, irrevocable license to access the intellectual property for research purposes, so it can not be locked up, if you like. In some cases the most advantageous way to have that material used is through commercial arrangements. Managing intellectual property is important for ACIAR to ensure that the target beneficiaries are not excluded form the benefits of the research supported. In many cases there is unlikely to be commercialisable intellectual property, by the nature of the work. But we use the same approach for all our programs so that we have confidence that the smallholder farmers do have a surety that the results of the research will be made available.³⁶

Committee comment

- 3.46 The Committee is pleased to see that ACIAR understands and contributes to how the results of its research can have applications in the Australian agricultural sector. The Committee notes comments by ACIAR that this accounts for around ten per cent of the benefits gleaned from ACIARs research.
- 3.47 The Committee hopes that the Australian Government continually evaluates the results of ACIAR research to ensure that, where appropriate, any relevant results or lessons learnt are applied domestically.
- 3.48 Finally, the Committee also believes that the results of ACIARs research should be better communicated to the Australian public as well as the scientific and political communities in line with recommendations made in the independent review. This will help not only to raise awareness of ACIARs valuable work but may lead to further collaborative opportunities both in Australia and overseas.

³⁵ Dr Nick Austin, Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research, *Transcript of Evidence*, Canberra, p. 3.

³⁶ Dr Nick Austin, Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research, *Transcript of Evidence*, Canberra, p. 3.



Appendix A - Public Hearing

Wednesday, 29 May 2013 - CANBERRA

Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research

Dr Nick Austin, Chief Executive Officer Dr Simon Hearn, Advisor